THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-001732  
Case No. 2017-CP-10-04445

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Oct 13 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Kathleen A. Grant; Dylan T.  
Grant; Devin D. Grant; and  
Andrea J. Grant,

Appellants,

v.

Nationstar Mortgage, LLC

Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

Stephen A. Spitz (SC Bar No. 5287)  
Spitz & Neville, LLC  
151 Meeting Street, Suite 305  
Charleston, South Carolina 29401  
(843) 414-5085

Daniel S. Slotchiver (SC Bar No. 15129)  
Stephen M. Slotchiver (SC Bar No. 65477)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE PRESENT ACTION WAS AN ACTION AT LAW, AND NOT AN ACTION IN EQUITY TO WHICH EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES MUST BE APPLIED.
2. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT COUNTRYWIDE AND ITS SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST, NATIONSTAR, AS MORTGAGE LENDERS, HAD NO DUTIES THAT INURE TO THE BENEFIT OF THE INNOCENT REMAINDERMEN.
3. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE LIFE TENANT HAD THE AUTHORITY TO MORTGAGE THE PROPERTY AS HE SAW FIT.
4. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT NATIONSTAR'S MORTGAGE IS A VALID ENCUMBRANCE ON THE PROPERTY

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action is about whether a mortgage placed upon a residence by a life tenant is valid and enforceable against the surviving remaindermen when the Mortgage Lender—Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (“Countrywide”)—(1) received notice that the life tenant and remaindermen’s interests were subject to the terms of a Will, (2) willfully ignored and failed to even review the Will, including the express restrictions contained therein on the life tenant’s ability to mortgage the property, (3) failed to make any inquiry as to the life tenant’s *reason* for the mortgage so as to ascertain whether it was permissible, (4) failed to notify any of the remaindermen as to its placement of a \$625,000.00 mortgage on the property, and (5) the entire \$625,000.00 is gone and not a single dollar was obtained for nor went to the remaindermen.

On August 29, 2017, Kathleen Grant, Dylan Grant, Devin Grant, and Andrea Davis (“Remaindermen”) brought this action seeking a declaratory judgment as to whether a mortgage obtained by David Grant, in his stated capacity as a life tenant and purported trustee, was valid against them. The Remaindermen contended that the Mortgage was not valid because (1) Countrywide was put on notice that David held a life interest in the property by virtue of a Will, (2) Countrywide willfully ignored and/or did not review the Will, which contained express limitations and restrictions as to David’s ability to mortgage the property, (3) David did not obtain the mortgage in furtherance of his obligation to protect the Remaindermen taking after him and did not otherwise have authority to obtain the mortgage, (4) Countrywide and its representatives failed to inquire as to David’s reason for seeking a mortgage so as to ascertain whether it was permissible, (5) Countrywide did not even notify the Remaindermen regarding the placement of a \$625,000.00 mortgage on the property.

A non-jury bench trial was held on July 30, 2019 before the Honorable Bentley D. Price

in Charleston County, Court of Common Pleas. At trial, the Remaindermen asserted that this was an action in equity because the Remaindermen were challenging the validity and enforceability of the mortgage on the Property. Defendant Nationstar Mortgage Inc. (“Nationstar”), Countrywide’s successor in interest, contended that no equitable principles applied to this case, that such principles should not be considered, and that the validity and enforceability of a mortgage is purely a matter of law, not equity.

On August 14, 2019, the Circuit Court entered an Order finding that (1) the lawsuit was an action at law<sup>1</sup>, (2) that the mortgage was a valid encumbrance on the property under the express terms of the Will and the purported testamentary trust created therein, (3) that despite placing a \$625,000.00 mortgage on the Property, David Grant, the life tenant, had not invaded the principal of the Property, (4) that by mortgaging the property for \$625,000.00, the life tenant had protected the interests of the Remaindermen because the Mortgage Lender had required that taxes and homeowners insurance be paid out of escrowed mortgage premiums, and that by doing so, the property had been kept “in the family name,” (5) that even if David Grant, the life tenant had misused the loan proceeds, Countrywide/Nationstar had no duty that inures to the benefit of the Plaintiffs, and (6) that the \$625,000.00 mortgage placed on the Property by Countrywide (and subsequently assigned to Nationstar) remains a valid, first priority lien on the Property and is enforceable against the innocent Remaindermen.

On August 22, 2019, Plaintiffs filed a *Motion to Alter or Amend the Court’s Order Filed August 14, 2019 Pursuant to Rule 59(e)*. On September 27, 2019, the Circuit Court denied the *Motion to Alter or Amend*. Plaintiffs filed their *Notice of Appeal* on October, 10, 2019. This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> In finding that this lawsuit was an action at law, the Court declined to address any of the equitable principles raised by the Remaindermen.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In order to determine the appropriate standard of review to apply in an appeal from a declaratory judgment action, this court must look to the nature of the underlying action.” *Consignment Sales, LLC v. Tucker Oil Co.*, 391 S.C. 266, 273-74, 705 S.E.2d 73, 77 (Ct. App. 2010). “Whether an action for declaratory relief is legal or equitable in nature depends on the plaintiff’s main purpose in bringing the action.” *Williams v. Wilson*, 349 S.C. 336, 340, 563 S.E.2d 320, 322 (2002).

Where the plaintiff’s main purpose in bringing the declaratory judgment action is to dissolve, cancel, and/or invalidate a mortgage—as is the case here—the action is equitable in nature: “A mortgage is the imposition of a lien on certain property therein mentioned, given to secure a contract [...]” *Aultman & Taylor Co. v. Rush*, 26 S.C. 517, 2 S.E. 402, 405 (1887). **“Our courts recognize that an action to dissolve a lien is an action in equity.”** *Shelley v. S.C. Dep’t of Mental Health*, 283 S.C. 344, 346, 322 S.E.2d 687, 689 (Ct. App. 1984), citing *Gantt v. Van der Hoek*, 251 S.C. 307, 313, 162 S.E.2d 267, 273 (1968). **“Actions to foreclose or cancel an instrument are actions in equity.”** *Cody Discount, Inc. v. Merrit*, 629 S.E.2d 697, 699, 368 S.C. 570 (Ct. App. 2006), quoting *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 324 S.C. 570, 576, 479 S.E.2d 510, 513, (1996).

In instances where a trust is encapsulated in a will (i.e. a testamentary trust), an action to construe or interpret the testamentary trust is also equitable in nature. See *Holcombe-Burdette v. Bank of America*, 640 S.E.2d 480, 483 (Ct. App. 2006), noting **“In the case sub judice, a trust is encapsulated within the four corners of a will. An action to construe or interpret a testamentary trust is equitable in nature.”** Citing *Waddell v. Kahdy*, 309 S.C. 1, 4-5, 419 S.E.2d 783, 785-86 (1992). “Trusts have long and broadly been a field for the jurisdiction of

equity.” *Floyd v. Floyd*, 615 S.E.2d 465, 485, 365 S.C. 56 (2005), *superseded by statute on other grounds*, quoting *Epworth Orphanage, v. Long*, 199 S.C. 385, 389, 19 S.E.2d 481, 482 (1942).

“In an action in equity, tried by the judge alone, without a reference, on appeal the [appellate court] has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its views of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Townes v. Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). See also, *Sullivan v. Brown (In re Estate of Kay)*, 423 S.C. 476, 480-481, 816 S.E.2d 542, 544-545 (2018), expanding *Townes*, and noting that the appellate courts of this state may take their own view of the preponderance of the evidence when dealing with equity matters.

## FACTS

### The Property

The property at issue in this case is a single-family home located at 1 Wall Street in downtown Charleston, South Carolina (“Property”). (Stip. of Facts, R. p. 497; Complaint, R. p. 3, para. 4.) The late Roberta R. Grant (“Roberta”) purchased the Property on June 25, 1987. (Stip. of Facts, R. p. 497) Roberta died testate on December 28, 1988, bequeathing a **life estate** in the Property to her Husband, David E. Grant (“David”), and leaving the **remainder interest** to her four children, Kathleen Grant, Dylan Grant, Devin Grant, and Andrea Davis (collectively, “Appellants” and/or “Remaindermen”). (Stip. of Facts, R. p. 498, para. 4-5; Will of Roberta Grant, R. pp. 428-433; Deed of Dist., R. pp. 487 and 490).

### The Limitations on David’s Life Estate

Roberta’s Last Will and Testament (“Will”) set forth express limitations and restrictions as to David’s life estate interest in the Property. (Will, R. pp. 431- 433) Specifically, Article V, Section 1(b) of the Will instructed, *inter alia*, that David could not consume or retain any principal of this estate as his own **and** that the **provisions of Article V and of the Will** should be construed in accordance with this restriction:

He [David] shall not *in any event* be entitled, directly or indirectly, to consume or otherwise retain any principal of this estate absolutely as his own, *or have or possess any substantially equivalent powers or rights, and the provisions of this ARTICLE and of this Will in general shall be construed accordingly.*

[Emphasis added] (Will, R. p. 431)

Article V of the Will also instructed that David shall possess the power and authority to mortgage the Property, but only *in furtherance of* his obligation to **protect** the Remaindermen taking after him. (Will, R. pp. 431- 432) Specifically, Article 5, Section 1(d) instructed as follows:

**David E. Grant shall be obligated** to invest and reinvest the properties from time to time constituting the assets of such life estate, **in order to protect the remaindermen taking after him,** and *in furtherance of said obligation* he shall have and possess full power and authority during his lifetime to mortgage or pledge all or any portion of such property [...] upon such terms and conditions as he in his absolute discretion may deem most advantageous, *taking into account the protection of the remaindermen taking after him.* [Emphasis added]. (Will, R. pp. 431-432)

Article V, Section 1(f) of the Will also left instructions for the creation, funding, and administration of **separate trusts to benefit each of Roberta's living children** (i.e. the Remaindermen) upon the occurrence of either of the following: 1) Upon Roberta's death if she were predeceased by David, or 2) Upon David's death if he survived Roberta, but failed to leave a will exercising the "power of appointment" afforded to him under Article V, Section 1(e) of Roberta's Will. (Will, R. p. 432) Absent these two limited circumstances, the Will does not provide instructions for the creation, funding, or administration of trusts for the Remaindermen.<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> At trial, the closing attorney for the Subject Mortgage transaction testified that neither of the events described under Article V, Section 1(f) had occurred when Countrywide placed the mortgage on the Property. (Trial Tr., R. p. 170, line 4 to p. 171, line 4) Indeed, David was alive when Countrywide placed the encumbrance on the Property. Accordingly, the circumstances

### Life after Roberta's Death

David remarried in 1993. (Trial Tr., R. p. 222, lines 15-18; p. 253, line 17) Soon after Roberta's death, he began taking out mortgages on the Property, each time invading the principal. (Stip. or Facts, R. pp. 499-501) These mortgages culminated in the \$625,000.00 mortgage placed on the Property by Countrywide that is the subject of this action, and which is described in detail below. (Stip. Of Facts, R. p. 501; Mortgage, R. p. 450; Trial Tr., R. p. 217, lines 17-21) David died on July 3, 2016, having exhausted all mortgage proceeds received from the Property. (Stip. of Facts, R. p. 501; Trial Tr., R., p. 222, line 16) At the time of his death, David had left approximately \$3,000.00 in his estate. (Trial Tr., R. p. 224, lines 10-15).

At trial, the Remaindermen provided testimony that the Property had been encumbered without their knowledge; that neither Countrywide, Nationstar, nor any of their representatives had ever notified them about their intent to place a \$625,000.00 mortgage on the Property, and that no mortgage proceeds had been used in furtherance of protecting their interests. (Trial Tr., R. p. 229, lines 8-19; p. 243, lines 12-15; p. 247, line 18 to p. 248 line 9; p. 254, line 19 to p. 255, line 8; p. 185, lines 12-15; p. 303, lines 11-15) The Remaindermen also testified that David, contrary to their interests, had failed to maintain the property or provide necessary repairs during his life tenancy and that the Property had deteriorated and fallen into terrible disrepair.<sup>3</sup> (Trial Tr., R. p. 226, line 23 to p. 228, line 25; p. 246, line 16 to p. 247, line 17; p. 251, line 18 to p. 252, line 3; p. 252, line 23 to p. 254, line 18).

### The Countrywide Mortgage

---

giving rise to the testamentary trusts under the Will had not occurred.

<sup>3</sup> The Remaindermen testified that David had allowed half the Property's windows to rot out, resulting in broken glass throughout the Property; that the home's porches had also rotted off; that a hole had opened up in the home's entryway due to an unattended bathroom leak; that the HVAC system had not been properly maintained, leading to moisture dripping through the wall; and that rodents and other vermin had taken up residence in the walls.

On March 14, 2007, Countrywide, upon David's application, placed a \$625,000.00 mortgage on the Property. (Stip. of Facts, R. p. 501; Mortgage Application, R. p. 359; Mortgage, R. p. 450) Although the mortgage that was filed with the Charleston County Register of Mesne Conveyance (the "RMC") listed David Grant as a "Trustee under the Last Will and Testament of Roberta R. Grant," it is notable that the mortgage application did not state that David Grant was seeking a mortgage in his capacity as Trustee on behalf of the Remaindermen. Rather, the mortgage application indicated that David was seeking a mortgage **in his own name** and that title would be held in fee simple. (Application, R. p. 359) In addition, David did not sign the mortgage application as "Trustee under the Last Will and Testament of Roberta Grant," but simply as David Grant. (Application, R. p. 361)

As part of his duties, the closing attorney for the Subject Mortgage transaction performed a title examination on the Property. (Trial Tr. R. p. 192, lines 18-21) His examination revealed the Deed of Distribution, filed with the RMC on November 16, 2016 in Book S-358 at page 265. (Stip. of Facts, R. pp. 499-500; Deed of Dist., R. p. 486). The Deed of Distribution evidenced that David Grant did not hold title in fee simple, but rather that he held a life interest in the Property by virtue of Roberta Grant's Last Will and Testament and that Roberta's descendant's (i.e. her children) held the remainder interest. (Deed of Dist., R. pp. 486 and 490; Trial Tr. R. p. 175, line 24 to p. 176, line 5)

The mortgage resulting from the David's application was recorded in the RMC on March 19, 2007 in Book C-619 at page 182 ("Subject Mortgage"). (Stip. of Facts, R. p. 501; Mortgage, R. p. 450) It noted the mortgagers as "David E. Grant and Martha S. Grant [David's second and since deceased wife] **and** David Grant as Trustee under the Last Will and Testament of Roberta Grant". (Mortgage, R. p. 450) In other words, David Grant was listed individually and as Trustee

under Roberta's Will, but there was no mention to David's life estate interest in the Property or even the existence of any Remaindermen. On September 3, 2013, the Subject Mortgage was purchased and assigned to Countrywide's successor in interest, Nationstar Mortgage, Inc. ("Nationstar" and/or "Respondent").<sup>4</sup> (Stip. of Facts, R. p. 501; Assignment, R. p. 493)

#### An Out-of-the-Ordinary Transaction

The closing attorney for the Subject Mortgage transaction testified that he had found it "out of the ordinary" for a life tenant to seek a permanent mortgage on property—so out of the ordinary—that he consulted with his law partner to see whether they could figure out if David, as a life tenant, had authority to mortgage the Property under Roberta's Will. (Trial Tr., R. p. 165, line 2-9; p. 206, lines 6-16; p. 212, lines 3-7). The law partner, in turn, suggested that the closing attorney "run it up the flag" and consult the title insurance company responsible to Countrywide for insuring the validity and enforceability of the mortgage.<sup>5</sup> (Trial Tr., R. p. 206, lines 6-16; p. 212, lines 3-7)

Following the advice of his law partner, the closing attorney consulted the title insurance company to see whether it would issue a policy to Countrywide insuring the validity and enforceability of the mortgage without any exceptions (i.e. without placing any restrictions on David's ability to obtain the mortgage). (Trial Tr., R. p. 212, line 19 to p. 213, line 17) A representative for the title insurance company testified that the closing attorney raised the aforementioned concern to him and that, despite the concern, the title insurance company decided it would issue a policy to Countrywide insuring the validity and enforceability of the

---

<sup>4</sup> It is unknown what Nationstar paid to acquire the Countrywide mortgage.

<sup>5</sup> The closing attorney testified that, in performing his duties at the closing, he was acting as an agent of the title insurance company. (Trial Tr., R. p. 173, lines 19-22)

mortgage without any special exceptions (i.e. it would not place any restrictions on David's ability to obtain the mortgage). (Trial Tr., R. p. 318, line 7 to p. 319, line 14; p. 322, line 8 to p. 323 line 3) As the closing attorney confirmed in his testimony, "the title company took the risk." (Trial Tr., R. p. 213, lines 2-17) <sup>6</sup>

The issuance of a title insurance policy to Countrywide was an integral component of the mortgage transaction. (Trial Tr., R. p. 212, lines 13-14; p. 321, lines 16-23) The closing attorney testified, "Every real estate closing we've been doing [in the] last twenty years requires title insurance. And if you don't get title insurance, you can't get a loan." (Trial Tr., R. p. 213, lines 2-4) He further testified that title insurance is there, because if there is a mistake, then the title insurance company would protect the bank making the loan. (Trial Tr., R. p. 213, lines 5-8)

#### A Lack of Inquiry and Failure to Notify

Following the title insurance company's decision to insure the mortgage, the closing attorney issued an opinion letter to Countrywide stating that David held a **life interest** in the Property **by virtue of Roberta's Will** and that Roberta's children held the **remainder interest**, but that, nonetheless, Countrywide would have a fully enforceable fee simple mortgage to foreclose on, which would divest not only David from any interest he had in the Property, but also the Remaindermen's fee simple interest. (Opinion Letter, R. p. 365; Trial Tr. p. 183, lines 6-9)

---

<sup>6</sup> Although the representative from the title insurance company testified that he often spoke with attorneys four or five times a day, it was rare for him to review a will for purposes of making a determination for the company as to whether an applicant could take out a mortgage. (Trial Tr., R. p. 320, lines 7-10) p. 325, line 23 to p. 326 line 3) The representative testified that he probably performed such a review only two or three times a year. (Trial Tr., R. p. 326, lines 22 to 25) When asked how often the wills involved life estates, as is the case here, the representative testified, "Probably once every few years." (Trial Tr., R. p. 327, lines 1-3) In other words, the representative who made a determination as to the Will's validity and enforceability for the title insurance company had very little experience reviewing wills, particularly wills involving life estates.

The opinion letter failed to mention any of the limitations and restrictions imposed on David's life estate by Roberta's Will. (Opinion Letter, R. p. 365.) Nonetheless, the letter put Countrywide on notice as to David's life estate interest in the Property and to the existence of Roberta's Will. At trial, the closing attorney testified that Countrywide, having received notice, could have exercised its right to request a copy of Roberta's Will as part of its evaluation of the mortgage application:

Q. Would you agree with me, Mr. Barr, that once they [Countrywide] knew that there was a life estate, they had the right, if they wanted to -- and that there was a will, they had the right, if they wanted, to look and see what the will said with regard to the transfer of the life estate?

A. If they wanted to, like I stated in our deposition.

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