THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001732
Case No. 2017-CP-10-04445

RECEIVED

Oct 13 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Kathleen A. Grant, Dylan T. Grant, Devin D. Grant, and Andrea J. Grant,

Appellants,

v.

Nationstar Mortgage, LLC

Respondent.

RESPONDENT NATIONSTAR MORTGAGE, LLC'S FINAL BRIEF

Lawrence M. Hershon (SC Bar No. 77514)
John G. Tamasitis (SC Bar No. 101875)
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
1221 Main Street, Suite 1100
Columbia, SC 29201
Telephone: 803-255-8000
Facsimile: 803-255-9017
lawrencehershon@parkerpoe.com
johntamasitis@parkerpoe.com

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

Furthermore, the property taxes and insurance were paid by Nationstar and the prior lenders out of escrow under the terms of the Mortgage. (R. p. 501). Payment of the property taxes under the Mortgage protected the Property from being involuntarily sold at a tax sale, which would have divested the Grants of their rights to some of the proceeds in the Property. Moreover, the payment of the homeowners' insurance also protected the Property. Specifically,

following Hurricane Matthew, Appellant Kathleen Grant testified that the homeowners' insurance policy was utilized to make necessary repairs to the roof. (R. pp. 228-229). The premiums for the insurance policy were also paid out of the Mortgage's escrow account. (R. p. 501).⁷

Because this is a matter at law and because Mr. Grant had the authority to mortgage the Property under the Will, the Court of Appeals need look no further at the additional arguments raised by the Grants to invalidate the Mortgage. The Circuit Court found that that the Will provided authority for Mr. Grant's actions to mortgage the Property, and the evidence presented at trial supports such a finding. (R. p. 15). There is no authority for the Court to hold the lender responsible for the actions of a life tenant following issuance of its loan. (R. pp. 17-19). The Court's analysis of this matter is complete upon finding that Mr. Grant had the right under the Will to mortgage the property. *See Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown*, 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (holding an appellate court need not review remaining issues when its determination of a prior issue is dispositive of the appeal).⁸

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT A LENDER OWED NO DUTY TO NOTIFY THE REMAINDERMEN CONCERNING THE MORTGAGE OR TO OVERSEE THE USE OF THE FUNDS.

The Grants failed to introduce any convincing evidence at trial that Mr. Grant did not utilize the proceeds of the various loan refinances to take into account the protection of his adult children. (R. pp. 243, 248, 257). Furthermore, South Carolina law does not impose a duty on

⁷Regardless, whether Mr. Grant properly protected the principal of the life estate may provide a basis for a claim by his adult children against the estate of Mr. Grant, but there is no legal support presented by the Grants for a court to hold a lender liable for the actions taken by a life tenant with the power of disposition. The case law cited by the Grants at most supports actions against the life tenant.

⁸Furthermore, this Court "may affirm a trial judge's decision on any ground appearing in the record and, hence, may affirm the trial judge's correct result even though he may have erred on some other ground." *Potomac Leasing Co. v. Otts Market, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 603, 606, 358 S.E.2d 154, 156 (Ct. App. 1987).

Nationstar's predecessors-in-interest (as the bank that originated the loan, and, accordingly, Nationstar) to the Grants to notify them that the Mortgage was entered into and ensure that Mr. Grant utilized the proceeds of the loan properly under the Will.

The long standing jurisprudence in South Carolina is clear: The normal arrangement between a bank and its customer “creates a creditor-debtor relationship rather than a fiduciary one.” *Burwell v. South Carolina Nat. Bank*, 288 S.C. 34, 40, 340 S.E.2d 786, 790 (1986) (citing *Nat. Loan and Exchange Bank v. New York Life Ins. Co.*, 149 S.C. 378, 147 S.E. 322 (1929)); *see also Citizens and Southern Nat. Bank of South Carolina v. Lanford*, 313 S.C. 540, 545, 443 S.E.2d 549, 551 (1994) (“The law does not impose a duty on the bank to explain to an individual what he could learn from simply reading the document.”); *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 669, 582 S.E.2d 432, 443 (Ct. App. 2003) (holding the borrower “was not in a vulnerable position, and the bank owed no special duty of care”). Other jurisdictions are in accord with the general principle that there is no duty for a lender to use reasonable care in making a loan in the context of a loan application and lender-borrower relationship. *Nelson v. Production Credit Assoc. of the Midlands*, 930 F.2d 599, 605 (8th Cir. 1991) (finding the “Court would not impose a duty on a lender to use reasonable care in making a loan.”); *Parker v. Columbia Bank*, 604 A.2d 521, 535 (Md. App. 1992) (finding “a lender owes no duty of care to its borrower”); *Baskin v. Mortgage and Trust, Inc.*, 837 S.W.2d 743, 747-48 (Tex. App. 1992) (“Regarding [lender’s] liability for its own negligence, if any, the relationship between a borrower and its lender generally does not create a fiduciary duty or impose a duty of good faith and fair dealing”); *Commercial Natl. Bank v. Audobon Meadow Partnership*, 566 So.2d 1136, 1140 (La. App. 1990) (“we find no source of a duty in tort which would impose liability upon the bank”).

In limited circumstances, a fiduciary relationship may be created between a bank and a customer “if the bank undertakes to advise the customer as a part of the services the bank offers.” *Burwell*, 288 S.C. at 40-41, 340 S.E.2d at 790. However, the Grants in this case are not customers of Nationstar nor were they customers of the previous lenders.

The Grants have not cited any authority that imposes a duty upon a bank to notify remaindermen of mortgages that are taken out by a life tenant and ensure that the loan proceeds are used properly. Although, as discussed above that this is an action at law, Nationstar will address the Grants’ contention that simply because the prior lender was involved in nationwide lending during the financial crisis that led to the demise of several financial institutions is a reason to somehow impose a legal duty on Nationstar and other financial institutions to parties not subject to loan transactions. (R. pp. 265-266).⁹ The imposition of such a duty on financial institutions, taken to its logical conclusions, would chill residential home lending in South Carolina.

In support of their arguments, the Grants rely on the Supreme Court’s decision in *Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Coffey*, 404 S.C. 421, 746 S.E.2d 35 (2013) and contend that this decision stands for the principle that financial institutions have a duty to investigate and take into account the interests of “innocent third parties” through “proper due diligence.” *Id.* at 426 n.1, 746 S.E.2d at 38 n.1. First, as this Court is well aware, *Coffey* dealt with a lender who issued a home equity loan to a deceased husband filed suit against the husband’s estate, wife, and others to foreclose on the estate after the wife stopped making payments. *Id.* at 422, 746 S.E.2d at 38. In addition, the lender prepared the loan documents and closed the loan transaction without the

⁹Again, the Grants did not submit any evidence to the Circuit Court, other than Mr. Grant’s daughter’s conjecture, that Mr. Grant failed to use the funds for a purpose other than protecting the Grants. (R. pp. 243, 248, 257). To the contrary, as discussed herein, Nationstar established that Mr. Grant preserved the Property for his children as was required under the Will.

participation or supervision of a closing attorney. *Id.* The significant fact in this case was that the real property pledged as a mortgage for the home equity line of credit by the husband was not owned by the husband, but solely by the wife. *Id.* The Supreme Court held that the dispositive issue in the case was whether the lender could foreclose on an invalid mortgage. *Id.* at 425, 746 S.E.2d at 38. The Supreme Court explained that, because the lender failed to verify the husband's interest in the couple's residence, it never possessed a valid mortgage on the property and could not pursue an action against the wife related to the mortgage. *Id.* at 426, 746 S.E.2d at 38.

The language actually cited by the Grants is located in a footnote to the opinion that was drafted specifically to address the dissent's arguments that equitable principles militated in favor of the lender and not the wife. *Id.* at 426 n.1, 746 S.E.2d at 38 n.1. What the Grants failed to appreciate is that the prior lenders in this case did, in fact, conduct proper due diligence when they made the repeated decisions to allow Mr. Grant to refinance the mortgage. (*See* R. pp. 199-200). This was testified to at trial by both the closing attorney for the latest refinance and a representative from the title insurance company that issued the policy covering the Property. (R. pp. 318-319).¹⁰ Indeed, both the closing attorney and the representative from the title insurance company reviewed the Will and conducted an examination before closing the Mortgage and issuing a title insurance policy. (R. pp. 196-208, 316-319). Such conduct is exactly what the Supreme Court envisioned in its ruling in *Coffey*. Moreover, as discussed in more detail below, the Grants have not been harmed by Nationstar's and the previous lenders' conduct and, in fact,

¹⁰The Grants contend in the factual section of their brief that the closing attorney and the title insurance representative had conflicts of interest and that their testimony should be discounted. The Grants never raised these apparent "conflicts of interest" at trial or in their Rule 59 Motion. Accordingly, this contention should be given no weight as it is not preserved for appeal. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

they now have a valuable piece of real property that would not have been in Mr. Grant's estate had he not refinanced the mortgages through the years.

The Grants also cite to the Supreme Court decision in *Kirkham v. First Nat. Bank of City of New York*, 149 S.C. 545, 147 S.E. 648 (1929) for the apparent proposition that the purpose of the court is to protect the rights of remaindermen who may at any time have an interest in real estate if they are incapacitated or not of age and should step in to ensure that the rights of the remaindermen are protected. However, as to what the Grants actually rely upon, the court in *Kirkham* merely stated that it was not going to disturb the general rule that a life tenant owes a duty to protect the remainder. *Id.* at 649. The case did not involve the duties of a third party to the remaindermen.¹¹ Thus, *Kirkham* is inapposite to the facts of this case.¹² Had the Grants wanted to sue Mr. Grant or his probate estate to challenge whether he breached his duty, they had/have that opportunity. However, as of the date of this brief, they have chosen not to take that approach.

All told, the Grants have not cited a single case that addresses whether a lender owes a duty to remaindermen to ensure a life tenant with the power of disposition, who mortgages property subject to the life estate, properly uses the proceeds of the loan. Further, the Grants

¹¹Moreover, the Supreme Court stated: "The appellant refers to Miss Kirkham as a life tenant; we are not to be understood as adopting this characterization." *Id.* at 649 (emphasis added). Accordingly, the underlying facts did not even support the finding of a life tenancy at issue.

¹²Finally, the Grants also attempt to rely on the case of *Des Champs v. Mim*, 148 S.C. 52, 145 S.E. 623 (1928) and its progeny to support their argument that Nationstar's predecessor-in-interest owed a duty to the Grants; however such reliance is misplaced. *Des Champs* dealt with a life tenant who sold land to pay off his mortgage debts and completely divested his unborn son of his remainder interest in the subject property. The case did not, as we have here, involve a life estate interest with the power of disposition nor did it involve a claim against the bank that held the mortgage. Rather, the claim was against the life tenant for failing to preserve the property. Again, the Grants have chosen not to sue Mr. Grant or his estate and, accordingly, *Des Champs* and its progeny are neither binding nor relevant precedent on this Court's decision.

failed to present any evidence that Nationstar or the originating lender did anything to create a duty between itself and Mr. Grant or the Grants.

Moreover, the actual Will itself absolves Nationstar or any other lender of any responsibility to oversee David E. Grant's use of the proceeds. Specifically, the terms that created the testamentary trust provide: "No person paying money or delivering any property to any Trustee need see to its application." (R. p. 442). Furthermore, Plaintiffs did not point to any language in the Mortgage that would impose such a duty on the prior lenders. The Grants argued at trial that the prior lenders assumed some form of a "conservatorship" role by loaning the proceeds to Mr. Grant because it knew of the Will. (R. p. 153). While no concrete evidence was presented that the prior lenders knew the terms of the Will, even if they did, nothing in the language of the Will, the Mortgage, or any order from the Probate Court from the estate file of Roberta R. Grant created such a "conservatorship" and the law does not impose such a role. (R. pp. 156, 203).

South Carolina law does not impose a legal duty on Nationstar's predecessors-in-interest (and, accordingly, Nationstar) to the Grants to ensure that Mr. Grant utilized the proceeds of the loan properly. Moreover, although though not dispositive and as discussed below, the Grants could not prove to the Circuit Court that Mr. Grant improperly utilized the proceeds for the refinances and failed to protect the Grants' interest in the Property. (R. pp. 243, 248, 257). Therefore, the Circuit Court did not err when it refused to impose a duty on Nationstar to notify the Grants that the Mortgage was to be refinanced and to ensure that Mr. Grant used the loan proceeds properly pursuant to the terms of the Will.¹³

¹³As noted by the Circuit Court, in addition to the lack of legal authority for such a requirement, for a bank to take such a step is entirely impractical. It would require that a bank determine each

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT MR. GRANT PRESERVED THE PROPERTY FOR HIS ADULT CHILDREN AND TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THEIR INTEREST.

Finally, Mr. Grant kept the Property in the family's name for a period of approximately 28 years. (R. p. 17). The Property has been preserved for the Grants and they currently stand to recover close to \$500,000 in equity. (R. pp. 16, 366-367, 501). As discussed previously, Mr. Grant protected the Property through the refinancing of the Mortgage so that the taxes remained paid, the homeowners insurance policy remained current, and the Property is now available for Grants and their posterity. (R. pp. 228-229, 240-242, 398-425). The Grants cannot point to any applicable authority that requires a lender to manage the funds loaned to a life tenant following issuance of the loan. It strains credulity to argue that Mr. Grant (who had the express right under the Will to mortgage the Property) did not preserve the assets that his late wife hoped to pass down to her children. The Grants will reap the benefits of the increased equity in the Property. By virtue of his actions, Mr. Grant ensured that there would be something left for his children, as Roberta R. Grant intended in the Will, and he, therefore, took them into account when refinancing the mortgages in order to hold onto the Property until his death.¹⁴

potential beneficiary under a will for generations, and who are unlikely to each be named individually, and provide notice to them of the transaction. (See R. pp. 18-19).

¹⁴The Grants argued at trial that because neither Mr. Grant nor Nationstar provided notice to them of the Mortgage, their Due Process rights were violated. This argument was not addressed in the Grants' Initial Brief and therefore not preserved for review, but out of an abundance of caution, the Fourteenth Amendment of the Constitution provides in part that "[n]o State shall . . . deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law." Since the United States Supreme Court's decision in the *Civil Rights Cases*, 109 U.S. 3 (1883), "the principle has become firmly embedded in our constitutional law that the action inhibited by the first section of the Fourteenth Amendment is only such action as may fairly be said to be that of the States." *Blum v. Yaretsky*, 457 U.S. 991, 1002 (1982) (quoting *Shelley v. Kraemer*, 334 U.S. 1, 13 (1948)). The Fourteenth Amendment "erects no shield against merely private conduct, however discriminatory or wrongful." *Id.* No party presented any evidence that the Mortgage was a result of state action and, therefore, Nationstar's conduct cannot implicate the protection of Due Process as set forth in the Fourteenth Amendment.

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